Cambrian Archaeological Monographs No 5

EXCAVATIONS
in the
BRENIG VALLEY

A Mesolithic and
Bronze Age Landscape
in North Wales

FRANCES LYNCH

The Cambrian Archaeological Association 1993

»« Cadw

“(‘l_‘}\/ NS TORIC



© Cambrian Archaeological Association, 1993

ISBN 0 947846 04 2
ISSN 0226-539X

Series Editor: Robin G. Livens, F.S.A.

Published by the Cambrian Archaeological Association
with the aid of grants from Cadw/Welsh Historic Monuments,
Dwr Cymru and Research Centre, Wales

Cambrian Archacological Monographs may be obtained from:
The Gwynedd Archaeological Trust,

Garth Road,

Bangor,

Gwynedd LL57 2RP.

Phototypeset by The Midlands Book Typesetting Company.
Printed by Quorn Litho, Queens Road, Loughborough, Leics. LE11 1HH.






Excavations in the
Brenig Valley

A Mesolithic and Bronze Age
landscape in North Wales

FRANCES LYNCH

WITH CONTRIBUTIONS BY
David Allen
Shelagh Lewis
John Waddell

Tim Darvill
Edward Derbyshire
Elizabeth Healey
Alan Hibbert
David Jenkins
Helen Keeley
Carole Keepax
Elaine Morris
Terry O’Connor

Lynda Alker
Richard Kelly
Peter Murphy

Published by the Cambrian Archaeological Association
with financial assistance from

Cadw: Welsh Historic Monuments

Dwr Cymru

Research Centre Wales (Bangor)

1993






Editor’s Preface

The excavations described in this volume were carried out in three summer seasons between 1973 and
1975 before the Brenig valley was flooded to form a reservoir. The excavations were directed by the
four major authors and this report has been co-ordinated by Frances Lynch of the University College of
North Wales in Bangor. The excavating team, which included the last-named authors, was augmented
by many specialists working in the field and in later analysis. Their specialist reports are summarised
in the Appendices and given in full in the microfiche section.

Although this was a ‘rescue project’ it was possible to include unthreatened components of the
Bronze Age cemetery so the excavators were able to examine the evidence from a complete ritual
landscape, a factor which gives the results a special importance. Through subsequent changes in the
reservoir programme it was possible to reconstruct the monuments, providing the public with the
opportunity of visiting a uniquely varied display of Bronze Age architecture.

We acknowledge assistance from a number of colleagues: Dr. ].N.G. Ritchie provided most valuable
comments and information and Ms M. Mason worked extremely hard and efficiently on copy-editing
the text. The Monographs Management Committee of the Cambrian Archaeological Association,
under the Chairmanship of Mr H.N. Jerman, was most supportive and helpful, particularly when
the bankruptcy of the originally selected printer caused a serious delay in the production and I would
wish to record my sincere gratitude to them. The Welsh Historic Monuments ('CADW’) was also most
helpful and, in company with Welsh Water and Research Centre Wales, funded this volume. The rapid
efficiency of The Midlands Book Typesetting Company and Quorn Litho in producing the volume, must
also be noted with our very sincere thanks.

Robin G. Livens
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CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

Frances Lynch

The Brenig Reservoir is now a broad expanse of
water covering 4.28 sq. km (1.65 sq. miles) of
what was previously a shallow moorland valley.
In the recent past this valley had supported quite
a large population of sheep farmers, but by the
time the reservoir came to be built the permanent
population had been greatly reduced and much
of the grazing land had been covered with the
neat conifers of the Forestry Commission. In the
much more distant past the valley had been
the home of Bronze Age farmers and pastors
who had buried their dead beneath large turf
mounds arranged as an imposing group below
the pass at its northern end. It is the account
of the excavation of the barrow cemetery which
forms the heart of this report, but other remains of
man’s occupation of the valley at different periods
were also investigated, notably a Mesolithic camp
site and a group of late mediaeval hafodau, together
with clearance cairns and agricultural structures of
more recent date.

HISTORY OF THE EXCAVATION
PROJECT

The damming of the Afon Brenig was first mooted
in 1907 when the nearby Alwen Reservoir was
created. At that time little concern would have
been shown for monuments to be covered by the
water as the fate of the cairn or circle drowned by
the Alwen has demonstrated. In 1970, however,
the climate of opinion was very different and the
project benefited from the growth of awareness of
threats to the historical heritage and of interest
in landscape archaeology and the academic study
of cemeteries, not as separate monuments but
as integrated groups. When the archaeological
response was first discussed the full extent of
the reservoir and the perimeter works was not
finalised. The dam was to be built so that it
might be heightened and the larger lake to be
created when this happened would certainly have
covered most of the monuments in the head of
the valley. The project, therefore, was essentially
a rescue operation, but, through the wisdom of
Dr Michael Apted, then Principal Inspector of
Ancient Monuments for Wales, it was possible
to add an element of research work in order to
excavate the whole of the cemetery and to include
Brenig 47, 46 and 51 which would always remain
above the level of the lake.

In the event the heightening of the dam has
been postponed indefinitely so that only a minority

of the ancient monuments is at the very edge of
the lake and none is actually drowned. Brenig is
a regulating reservoir with a seasonally fluctuating
water level and water supplies are taken not from
the lake itself, but from the rivers which it feeds.
As a result the Welsh Water Authority has been
able to encourage recreational use of the valley
and the lake. This public use dictated that the
excavation sites be tidily covered, not normally a
concern for rescue archaeology. Through the good
offices of the landscape architect for the project,
Professor Hal Moggeridge, it was possible to
persuade the Recreation and Amenity Committee
of the Welsh Water Authority that the sites should
not only be tidied, but reconstructed in situ to
provide an ‘Archaeological Trail’ as a focus for
walks along the north-eastern side of the lake.
This idea was accepted with enthusiasm and
generosity by the Authority, who organised and
paid for the work. They also developed a small
site museum where the history of the valley is
displayed with the use of casts and models. The
Archaeological Trail and the first museum were
opened in 1977; the museum has recently been
rebuilt and enlarged.

The trail with its rebuilt monuments provides
a very good display of the variety of Bronze Age
architecture to be seen in the Welsh uplands. The
three distant barrows on Cefn Brenig (Brenig 40, 41
and 42) have been simply rebuilt as grass-covered
mounds. Boncyn Arian (Brenig 45), beside the
path, is similar but its concealed wall has been
indicated on the surface by a ring of slabs. At
the Ring Cairn and the Platform Cairn (Brenig
44 and 51), the outer stones of the monuments
were not moved, so that the stones could be
accurately reset within them. The timber circle has
been reconstructed around Brenig 44. At Brenig 51
both phases of design can be seen since the inner
circle now stands slightly proud of the surface of
the platform. At the hafod in Nant y griafolen the
low stone walls have been turfed over, and short
timbers stand in the post holes of the earlier hut,
as they do at Brenig 6. Stone cairns have been
replaced at Brenig 14 and 46, but not at Brenig
8 where only the kerb has been restored, the
grave remaining visible as a pit loosely filled with
stones.

The archaeological work began in 1971 when
Mrs P. R Lewis, then Miss Shelagh Grealey,
of Manchester University was asked to cut an
exploratory trench into Brenig 45. This revealed
something of the complex nature of the mound
and it was decided that future work should be on a
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larger scale and a directorial team was assembled.
In the following year Mrs Lewis undertook a
field survey of the valley which revealed some
hitherto unrecorded cairns and agricultural ruins
(Brenig 1-5, 9-39, 43 and 52). It was then that the
monuments in the valley were given the numbers
by which they are now known.

The main season of excavation was in 1973
when, in the course of three months, nine major
and twelve minor monuments were excavated
with the help of 230 volunteers. The monuments
excavated then were Brenig 40 and 41 (under the
direction of Dr John Waddell, University College
Galway); Brenig 42 and 45 (under the direction of
Mrs Lewis); Brenig 47, 44, 8, 9-39 and 14 (under
the direction of Miss Frances Lynch, University
College of North Wales); and Brenig 1-5, 7, 43,
6 and 48 (excavated by the Rescue Archaeology
Group [R.A.G.] under the direction of Mr David
Allen). The soil survey of the valley and pollen
analytical work were also undertaken in 1973 and
largely completed then.

The second season, in the summer of 1974,
lasted only six weeks and involved 71 volunteers.
Brenig 51 and 46 were excavated under the
direction of Miss Lynch, and other possible barrows
were investigated. Mr Allen completed work on
the wooden structures beneath Brenig 48 and 6,
while Mr Chris Musson of R.A.G. investigated
Mesolithic pits (Brenig 53) near Brenig 45. In the
following summer a small team under Mr Allen,
then working for the Clwyd-Powys Archaeological
Trust, extended the work on this area to try to
define the extent of the Mesolithic camp.

Through the generosity of the Society and the
kindness and efficiency of the editor, the late Mr
Frank Price Jones, interim reports of the work of
1973 and 1974 were published in the Transactions of
the Denbighshire Historical Society (Lynch et al. 1974;
Lynch & Allen 1975).

The finds have been sent to the National
Museum of Wales in Cardiff, on the under-
standing that they will return to the north when
a professional museum is established there. The
excavation records have also been deposited in the
National Museum.
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Mr Bill Wynne Woodhouse, who did a great deal
to foster among visitors an understanding of the
history of the valley.

We would also like to record our thanks to the
local people of Denbigh and Cerrig y Drudion
for many kindnesses during the period of the
excavation. We hope that they are pleased with
the result of the work. We would particularly
like to thank Dr Davies of Cerrig y Drudion, the
generous people who provided us with bathing
facilities, and our suppliers in Cerrig, Denbigh
and Rhyl.

The authors deeply appreciate the important
contributions of the various specialists who have
not only written several of the appendices, but
have provided help and advice on many matters of
more general interpretation. For their knowledge,
and also for their patience, we are deeply grateful.
We would particularly like to thank Dr Helen
Keeley of the D. O. E. Ancient Monuments
Laboratory in London who co-ordinated a great
deal of the analytical work for the project.

The writing of this report has been a joint effort
and I would like to thank my fellow contributors
for their co-operation and understanding over
many years. The authorship of the various reports
and the relevant discussions is indicated in the
appropriate parts of the text, but all sections
have benefited from mutual discussions and the
exchange of texts. Mrs Lewis was unable to revise
her report and discussion of the very complex
mound, Brenig 45, and so this work has been
shared by John Waddell and myself, who are
responsible for most of the final text. All the
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excavation accounts and most of the commentaries
were completed by 1979 and it is much to be
regretted that the absence of relatively small
sections and the problems of final co-ordination
delayed the publication for so long thereafter.

Most of the drawings have been prepared by
myself or David Allen and we are grateful to
David Bibby and to Jean Williamson for help
with lettering and some re-drawing and to Carl
Akeroyd for checking and other tasks of finalisation
in 1989. We are also grateful to Mick Sharp for
his preparation of the plates from excavators’
photographs and to Mrs Margaret Crowe and
Mrs Pauline Jones for typing and word processing.
Finally I would like to thank Mr Peter Crew, Dr C.
A. Smith and Dr M. J. Yates of Cadw and Dr]. N.
G. Ritchie for reading the final text and for making
many valuable suggestions and criticisms.

EARLIER REFERENCES TO
ANTIQUITIES IN THE VALLEY

The earliest references to the monuments at the
head of the valley all concern the most con-
spicuous earthwork, Hen Ddinbych, which was
not the subject of any investigation during the
1973 season. This site (Brenig 49) consists of a bank
and ditch, which even now is quite substantial,
enclosing an almost square area of approximately
0.65 hectares in extent. There are three entrances
which may be original, closer to the corners than
the centres of the sides. A cobbled track cuts across
the enclosure from north-west to south-east, and
in the southern half the remains of a long stone
building may be recognised. The site is tucked
into the valley of the Afon Llech Daniel, lying
on the south-facing slope of the moor overlooking
the river. It is concealed from the main valley
but numerous references to ancient roads passing
close to it suggest that it may originally have been
less remote than it now appears.

The earliest reference to the area is in the
Survey of Denbigh (1334) which mentions a ‘certain
waste called Bysshopeswall” (Vinogradoff & Morgan
1914, 25). This land adjoins that of ‘Havothlum’
(Hafod Lom, a surviving farm further down the
valley), so the general location is not in doubt,
though the identification of Bysshopeswall as
Hen Ddinbych was not suggested until 1859. In
Leland’s Itinerary, published in 1549, mention is
made of "Place amedowe’ in ‘Kinemarch commote’,
which is probably to be identified with Hen
Ddinbych, although both the description and
the distances given are inaccurate (Leland 1539,
95). ‘Place amedowe’ is generally taken to mean
‘Plas y Meudwy (Hermit’s Place)’, which suggests
that the area had by then become very isolated and
remote. The next reference is in Lhuyd’s Parochialia
(1698, i, 151) under 'Nanklyn’ (Nantglyn), where
he mentions a ‘hen dref’ near Llech Daniel, simply
an old settlement without ecclesiastical overtones.
Lhuyd also refers to ancient roads, Llwybr Elen
and Sarn Elen, which cross the moors in this area,
but he does not mention any of the barrows or
cairns.

The district does not appear again in the
archaeological literature until 1854. The decade
1850 to 1860 saw a good deal of exploratory
activity, both official and unofficial. The barrows
on Gorsedd Bran, overlooking the Brenig valley,
and probably those on Cefn Brenig as well as
Boncyn Arian (Brenig 45), were dug into by
quarrymen sometime about 1850 and several
urns were found. One survived to be exhibited
at the newly-formed Cambrian Archaeological
Association’s meeting in Ruthin in 1854 (Anon.
1854, 233, 252). It was this meeting which
stimulated renewed archaeological interest in the
area. A small group of the more active excur-
sionists rode over to Hen Ddinbych from Clocaenog.
Their local guides told them that the enclosure and
the stone building were a church and churchyard,
their view presumably reflecting the tradition
enshrined in the name ‘Plas y Meudwy’. The
assembled antiquarians preferred a Roman inter-
pretation and this view held sway for the rest
of the nineteenth century. The enclosure was
cautiously identified as a Roman Camp in Davis’
Handbook to the Vale of Clwyd (1856, 110), where the
present name ‘Hen Ddinbych’ is used for the first
time. The Roman date was advanced with greater
confidence and learning by the Rev. E. L. Barnwell
(1859), who linked the site into the network of
possible Roman roads. By 1972 these ‘roads’ were
no longer visible and unfortunately the excavation
project did not include a search for them.

Hen Ddinbych was obviously the centre of
interest at this time but other antiquities were
noted in passing. The excursionists of 1854 ‘also
found a large number and variety of primeval
antiquities” (Anon. 1854, 241) and in the following
year the Rev. H. Longueville Jones (1855) pub-
lished a list of Early British Remains in Wales which
includes a number of the monuments near Hafoty
Sion Lwyd. He refers to Maen Cleddau with its
dislodged portion beside it, to a ‘circle of small
size’ close to it and to another ‘Bedd’ with a
‘cistfaen uncovered with a small circle of stone
surrounding it.” Judging from the distances given
this, too, must have been close to Maen Cleddau.
One of these must be the Kerb Cairn, Brenig 6,
but the other cannot now be found. Barnwell,
in writing of Hen Ddinbych (1859; 1878) also
mentions Maen Cleddau and describes Brenig
8 with its kerb which he identifies as a Stone
Circle, a view perpetuated by later writers. In
addition he mentions a ‘row of stones, placed
edgewise and touching each other” which stood
on the lower ground to the south of Brenig 8. He
thought these were some sort of long grave and
dug around them, but found nothing to indicate
their date or purpose. He says that they were put
back exactly as before, but they were not found
during the survey of 1972.

In 1855 it was recognised that the moorland
areas of Hiraethog had not yet been adequately
searched, and that many more antiquities might
be found there. However, for half a century after
1859 no new work appears to have been done
in the area. W. O. Stanley published the record
of the digging of the barrows on Gorsedd Bran
and possibly Cefn Brenig (see Chapter 5) in his
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famous article of 1868, but he was writing at third
hand (Stanley & Way 1868, 245-47). It is not until
the Royal Commission on Ancient Monuments’
Inventory for Denbighshire was being prepared
in 1912 that the valley was visited again (R.C.A.M.
1914, 132-35; 169-71). The Royal Commission’s
coverage is very disappointing. They note the
references in Lhuyd to Hen Ddinbych (No. 476),
and to the ancient roads which they are unable to
identify precisely. They mention the barrows on
the summit of Gorsedd Bran (No. 595) but they do
not recognise any on Cefn Brenig; they mention
Boncyn Arian, Brenig 45 (No. 475), and what
must be the Platform Cairn, Brenig 51 (No. 481).
Surprisingly they do not mention the conspicuous
ring of kerb stones, Brenig 8, nor Maen Cleddau
and the small cairn (or cairns) beside it, Brenig 6,
which had previously been listed so often. They
add one new monument of doubtful antiquity -
Maen Llwyd - a large recumbent boulder beside
the road a little way south of Bwlch Du (No. 479).
It is not there now.

In the following year, however, the first thorough
survey of the area was begun. In the course of
fieldwork for his magisterial work, The Prehistoric
and Roman Remains of Denbighshire, Canon Ellis
Davies visited the valley and made an accurate and
comprehensive record of all the monuments and
archaeological finds in the area (Ellis Davies 1929,
308-17; 379-80). Most of the sites were re-visited
in 1918 and 1925 before publication. This work is
organised by parishes, a natural and convenient
arrangement, but unfortunate for the Brenig valley
in that the monuments are separated, divided
between the parishes of Nantglyn (Cefn Brenig),
and Llanrhaeadr yng Nghinmeirch. This has
meant that the archaeological world was slow to
recognise the importance of the group as a single
complex cemetery, but this should not, of course,
detract from the enormous value of Ellis Davies’
work in the area.

It was he who first recorded the three large
barrows on Cefn Brenig, on the western side of
the valley (Brenig 40, 41 & 42) and recognised the
Ring Cairn (Brenig 44) beside Boncyn Arian; who
identified the small cairn in the pass, Brenig 47;
who first recorded the small earthern enclosure,
Brenig 7, and who described the group of long
huts in Nant y griafolen (Brenig 48). He gives
a comprehensive and lucid summary of the
literature on Hen Ddinbych which he is inclined
to regard as a Mediaeval moated farm, and
provides the most reliable version of the traditions
associated with Boncyn Arian (Brenig 45). He
follows Barnwell and the Ordnance Survey in
describing Brenig 8 as a Stone Circle because
little but the kerb remained. He mentions Maen
Cleddau but not Brenig 6, which had been dropped
from Barnwell’s 1878 article to which he refers. He
does not comment on Barnwell’s line of upright
stones, which must have disappeared before 1913.
The only Bronze Age monuments which are not in
Ellis Davies” survey are Brenig 6, Brenig 14, which
was amongst a group of field clearance cairns, and
Brenig 46, which was thought by local farmers to

be a clearance cairn, and may have been left out
for that reason. The debt which those involved in
the 1973/75 project owe to Ellis Davies cannot be
overestimated.

Subsequent archaeological activity in the valley
has been recorded in only a very cursory way. The
current excavations revealed that the two small
cairns, Brenig 46 and 14, had been investigated
in 1936 and 1938 in diggings which had not been
publicly recorded. In 1954 Brenig 46 was excavated
again by Mr Hywel Owen of Denbigh, who briefly
recorded what he found and also mentioned the
chance find of a stone spindle whorl from the river
near Rhyd Sion Wyn (Owen 1961). In 1956 Mr
Hugh Thompson, then Curator of the Grosvenor
Museum, Chester, cut a single section through
the southern bank of Hen Ddinbych, and across
the walls of the long stone building exposed by
unproductive diggings in the 1850s. No evidence
of date was found. A short time previously the
first accurate plan of the earthwork had been
made by C. A. Gresham and the results of both
survey and excavation were published together in
a short article which pointed out the affinities of
the site with others in north-west Wales which
have a more firmly established Mediaeval context
(Gresham, Hemp & Thompson 1959; Fox 1939,
222).

When the nature of the threat posed by the
reservoir became known in 1971 it was, in contrast
to the earlier years, the cemetery of barrows which
aroused the greater interest and concern. This was
partly because of the research interests of the
archaeologists most closely involved, but mainly
because they were the features most liable to be
either drowned by the lake or damaged by the
construction of a perimeter track. The decision
to excavate the barrows on the lower slopes led
to work on the higher ones as well because of
the need to treat the cemetery as a whole. Since
the evidence pointed to a Mediaeval date for Hen
Ddinbych, which was not to be affected by the
reservoir works in any case, it was decided that
its excavation should be left to a future generation
of archaeologists and only those post-Bronze Age
sites which would be affected in whole or in part
by the modern development should be examined.
The history of this project has already been told
and its results are described in the pages which
follow.

Numbering System

The original 1972 survey numbers were retained
to identify the monuments throughout the exca-
vation and post-excavation work. They are used
in this publication, the form Brenig 45 denoting
a monument; BG45:F9 a feature and BG45:301
a find. In order to avoid very clumsy notations
stake identifications etc. may be abbreviated, but
the context should make their origin clear. In
stake circle barrow excavation accounts, capital
letters are used to denote full circles, and lower
case letters smaller groups or runs of stakeholes.



CHAPTER TWO

The Environment of the Valley

INTRODUCTION

Frances Lynch

The Brenig valley lies within the extensive tract of
moorland known as Mynydd Hiraethog, now an
inhospitable, rather bleak upland massif of little
agricultural value. The rolling moorland is divided
by a number of river valleys of which Brenig was
one of the broadest and shallowest, contrasting
with the neighbouring valleys, Nantglyn to the
north and the flooded valley of the Alwen to the
south-west, which were both narrow and steep-
sided.

The valley was fed by three main rivers. The
Afon Fechan ran almost directly north-south
through Gors Maen Llwyd from the watershed
at Bwlch Du; it was on the slopes on either
side of this small river that the Bronze Age
monuments were placed. The Afon Brenig itself,
emerging from Llyn Bran and cutting a narrower
valley, entered from the north-west, while the
Aber Llech Daniel meandered through a shallow
boggy tract to join the Afon Berbo and enter the
main valley from the east. The wide central basin,
ill-drained but not impossibly boggy, received
other small tributaries before the southern end
was narrowed by a glacial moraine (the site of the
modern dam) which left the river only a narrow
outwash channel through which to disgorge into a
steeper-sided valley and join the Alwen at Pentre
Llyn Cymmer.

Before the reservoir was created the vegetation
of the valley was heather moorland, rough grazing
and conifer plantation. The north-western side of
the valley, Cefn Brenig, had been a maintained
grouse moor in the earlier part of the century
and retained that appearance. The north-eastern
slopes, around the farm of Hafoty Sion Llwyd,
were under grass and had recently been improved
to support not only sheep but cattle. Only sheep
grazed on the wetter land beside the river. In the
central portion of the valley the slopes on either
side had been taken over after the second world
war for conifer plantation, an extension of the
long established Clocaenog Forest. In the southern
part of the valley the lands of Hafod Lom and
Elorgarreg were grazed, but the farmsteads had
been abandoned for some years.

Possibly the high point of population in the
valley was during the 19th. and early 20th.
centuries. During this time several smallholdings
flourished in the northern end of the valley. Some,
such as Hafoty Sion Llwyd, built in its present
form in 1883, still survive; others, such as Pant
y Maen, are now only ruins, recognisable by the
stands of sycamore planted around the houses

to protect them from the wind. The mainstay
of the economy was sheep, but each farm was
surrounded by a group of small fields. The clear
remains of ridge-and-furrow in the larger field
behind Hafod yr Onnen (Pl. 2.1b) indicate that a
certain amount of ploughing was undertaken in
these fields at some time, and the holding would
also include rights of turbary in the wetter parts
of the valley floor, an economic activity attested
by the remains of four abandoned peat mounds
(Brenig 2-5). The farms at the southern end of the
valley were more substantial with larger houses
and more extensive farm buildings serving a more
diverse agriculture. The remains of a stone-built
byre (Brenig 1) north of Hafod Lom is evidence
for the presence of cattle in this part of the
valley, although the date of the structure cannot
be established.

The farm names - Hafoty Sion Llwyd and
Hafod yr Onnen - suggest an origin for these
holdings in the temporary summer houses which
were part of the Late Mediaeval cattle economy
w